IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 19–1558

---

DONALD CLARK,

Appellee,

vs.

STATE OF IOWA,

Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR JOHNSON COUNTY  
HONORABLE LARS ANDERSON, JUDGE

---

**APPELLANT’S FINAL BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

JEFFREY S. THOMPSON  
Solicitor General

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- I. Is a postconviction finding that a public defender rendered ineffective assistance of counsel offensively preclusive in a subsequent legal malpractice action against the public defender?**

## ROUTING STATEMENT

The State recommends retention because this case presents a substantial issue of first impression and presents fundamental and urgent issues of broad public importance requiring ultimate determination by the Supreme Court. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c)—(d). The question of first impression is whether a postconviction finding that a public defender rendered ineffective assistance is offensively preclusive in a subsequent legal malpractice action against the public defender.<sup>1</sup> Iowa courts have previously addressed only *defensive* issue preclusion in criminal malpractice cases. *See Hall v. Barrett*, 412 N.W.2d 648, 650 (Iowa Ct. App. 1987).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 13, 2017, Plaintiff Donald Clark sued the State of Iowa seeking money damages for a legal malpractice claim against former Assistant State Public Defender John Robertson. *See* Petition (App. 71-75). The case proceeded through the discovery phase.

On May 8, 2019, Clark moved for partial summary judgment, asserting that a grant of post-conviction relief (PCR) for ineffective

---

<sup>1</sup> A legal malpractice claim against a former criminal defense attorney is known as a “criminal malpractice” claim. *Barker v. Capotosto*, 875 N.W.2d 157, 161 n.2 (Iowa 2016).

assistance of counsel establishes Robertson's breach of duty in the malpractice action as a matter of law. *See* Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (App. 79-81). On May 23, 2019, the Defendant resisted. *See* Resistance to Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (App. 82).

On June 7, 2019, the district court denied Clark's motion for partial summary judgment, finding that the legal standard for ineffective assistance of counsel differs from the legal standard for the breach element of a legal malpractice claim. *See* June 7, 2019 Order (App. 102-107). On June 13, 2019, Clark moved to reconsider, amend, and enlarge the district court's ruling on partial summary judgment. *See* June 13, 2019 Motion (App. 108-113). On June 24, 2019, Defendant resisted the motion to reconsider. *See* Resistance to motion to amend (App. 114-117).

On August 29, 2019, the district court reversed course from its previous ruling, granted the motion to reconsider, amend, and enlarge, and granted Clark's motion for partial summary judgment, concluding that an ineffective-assistance finding stemming from a public defender's representation satisfies the breach element of a criminal malpractice case against the public defender as a matter of law. *See* August 29, 2019 Order (App. 118-129). The district court reached this

conclusion in part by deciding that the “State of Iowa” in the PCR context is the same party as the “State of Iowa” in a subsequent legal malpractice proceeding, and therefore “the State” had a full and fair opportunity to litigate. *See id.* (App. 118-129). The district court further concluded that it would apply issue preclusion despite other policy reasons articulated by the State. The State timely filed this interlocutory appeal. Application for Interlocutory Appeal (App. 130-144).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On February 10, 2010, a jury found Clark guilty of sexual abuse in the second degree for molesting a fifth-grade student in the 2003-2004 school year while Clark was a guidance counselor at an elementary school. Jury Verdict (App. 1). The Iowa Court of Appeals affirmed Clark’s conviction, *State v. Clark*, 808 N.W.2d 754 (Table), No. 10–0511, 2011 WL 5515221, at \*4 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 9, 2011), and so did the Iowa Supreme Court on further review. *State v. Clark*, 814 N.W.2d 551, 567 (Iowa 2012). On appeal, Clark claimed Robertson did not provide effective assistance of counsel, but the Court left those claims “to be determined in a possible postconviction relief proceeding.” *Id.*

About three months after the Court issued its opinion in his direct appeal, Clark applied for PCR, arguing that Robertson failed to provide effective assistance of counsel, which violated Clark's Sixth Amendment right. *See Application for Postconviction Relief* (App. 2-7). As an alternative ground, Clark also contended that newly discovered evidence warranted a new trial. *Application for Postconviction Relief* at 4 (App. 2-7). Robertson died suddenly and unexpectedly in 2013, while the PCR action was pending, without giving a deposition, and before the PCR trial took place. *Death Certificate* (App. 11). The PCR case was tried to the court on March 27, 2014. *See Iowa Code § 822.7* (requiring PCR applications to be heard by the court). At Clark's request, the court reopened the record on April 1, 2015. *April 2015 Order* (App. 12-13). On March 21, 2016—more than three years after Clark applied for PCR, and after several delays or continuances Clark himself sought or initiated—the court granted Clark's application for PCR and ordered a new trial. *PCR Ruling* (App. 39-67).

The PCR court found Clark did not receive effective assistance of counsel because Robertson: (1) did not visit or photograph the scene of the crime; (2) waived Clark's presence at a deposition without Clark's

permission; and (3) did not investigate and offer character evidence while allowing evidence of Clark's prior bad acts to be presented to the jury. PCR Ruling pp. 20-24 (App. 58-62). The PCR court also found that newly discovered evidence warranted a new trial. PCR Ruling at 27 (App. 65). The PCR ruling was not appealed. On July 7, 2016, the Johnson County Attorney dismissed the criminal charges against Clark. Dismissal (App. 68).

On October 13, 2017, Clark filed a Petition, starting this tort action. *See* Petition (App. 71-75). Clark now seeks money damages for alleged legal malpractice stemming from Robertson's representation during Clark's criminal proceedings in 2009 and 2010. Clark claims he is entitled to relief based only on grounds for which the PCR court found Robertson was ineffective. Clark moved for partial summary judgment, arguing that the PCR court's finding of ineffective assistance establishes Robertson's breach in this legal malpractice action as a matter of law. Clark Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (App. 79-81). The Court granted the State's interlocutory appeal from the district court's ruling granting Clark's motion to reconsider and granting Clark's motion for partial summary judgment on preclusion grounds.

## ARGUMENT

### I. **The PCR Ruling is not Offensively Preclusive on the Issue of Breach in this Legal Malpractice Action.**

#### **Preservation of Error**

The State preserved error by resisting Clark’s motion for summary judgment. *See* Resistance to MSJ (App. 82). The State also resisted Clark’s motion to reconsider, enlarge, or amend. (App. 114-117). And the district court ruled on Clark’s motions, rejecting the State’s assertions. *See Young v. Iowa City Cmty. Sch. Dist.*, 934 N.W.2d 595, 602 (Iowa 2019) (concluding error was preserved when a party raised the issue in briefs and the district court expressly ruled on the contention).

#### **Standard of Review**

Iowa appellate courts “review grants of summary judgment for correction of errors at law.” *Barker v. Capotosto*, 875 N.W.2d 157, 161 (Iowa 2016).

#### **Merits**

To prevail on a legal malpractice claim “arising from either civil or criminal representation,” a plaintiff must prove: “(1) the existence of an attorney–client relationship between the defendant and plaintiff giving rise to a duty; (2) the attorney, by either an act or a failure to act,

breached that duty; (3) this breach proximately caused injury to the plaintiff; and (4) the plaintiff sustained actual injury, loss, or damage.” *Kraklio v. Simmons*, 909 N.W.2d 427, 434 (Iowa 2018) (quoting *Huber v. Watson*, 568 N.W.2d 787, 790 (Iowa 1997)); see also Iowa Civil Jury Instruction No. 1500.1. For criminal malpractice claims alleging the lawyer’s breach of duty caused a conviction, there is one additional prerequisite: the malpractice plaintiff must first achieve relief from the conviction, usually through PCR. *Trobaugh v. Sondag*, 668 N.W.2d 577, 583 (Iowa 2003). But although “post-conviction relief is a necessary prerequisite for a claim of legal malpractice in criminal cases,” it does not take “the place of establishing the elements of negligence” through issue preclusion. *Stewart v. Elliott*, 239 P.3d 1236, 1240 (Alaska 2010).

Issue preclusion “is a form of res judicata.” *Emp’rs Mut. Cas. Co. v. Van Haaften*, 815 N.W.2d 17, 22 (Iowa 2012). It “prevents parties to a prior action in which judgment has been entered from relitigating in a subsequent action issues raised and resolved in the previous action.” *Hunter v. City of Des Moines*, 300 N.W.2d 121, 123 (Iowa 1981). One of its purposes is to promote “judicial economy by reducing unnecessary litigation.” *Winger v. CM Holdings, L.L.C.*, 881 N.W.2d



433, 450 (Iowa 2016); *see also* *McIlravy v. N. River Ins. Co.*, 653 N.W.2d 323, 330 (Iowa 2002) (characterizing judicial economy as “an additional benefit” of issue preclusion).

Litigants may use issue preclusion either offensively or defensively. *Goolsby v. Derby*, 189 N.W.2d 909, 913 (Iowa 1971). Here, Clark seeks to use offensive issue preclusion. Iowa courts recognize offensive issue preclusion but warn that “it is more restrictively and cautiously applied than defensive issue preclusion.” *Winger*, 881 N.W.2d at 451 (quoting *Gardner v. Hartford Ins. Accident & Indem. Co.*, 659 N.W.2d 198, 203 (Iowa 2003); *see also* *Hunter*, 300 N.W.2d at 124 (adopting a “more restrictive” standard for offensive issue preclusion than “where the doctrine is invoked in a defensive manner”).

When a litigant seeks to invoke issue preclusion, they must establish four elements: “(1) the issue in the present case must be identical, (2) the issue must have been raised and litigated in the prior action, (3) the issue must have been material and relevant to the disposition of the prior case, and (4) the determination of the issue in the prior action must have been essential to the resulting judgment.” *Soults Farms, Inc. v. Schafer*, 797 N.W.2d 92, 104 (Iowa 2011)

(quoting *Fischer v. City of Sioux City*, 654 N.W.2d 544, 546-47 (Iowa 2002)).

The Court has sometimes discussed an additional mutuality or privity requirement:

In addition to these four [issue preclusion] requirements, “either (1) the parties in both actions must be the same (mutuality of parties), or (2) there must be privity between the party against whom issue preclusion is invoked and the party against whom the issue was decided in the first litigation.”

*Dettman v. Kruckenberg*, 613 N.W.2d 238, 244 (Iowa 2000) (quoting *Brown v. Kassouf*, 558 N.W.2d 161, 163 (Iowa 1997)). However, the “traditional” mutuality requirement, see *Goolsby*, 189 N.W.2d at 913, is no longer a hard-and-fast rule. See *Hunter*, 300 N.W.2d at 126 (“[W]e decide today that the absence of mutuality will no longer *invariably* bar the offensive application of issue preclusion.”) (emphasis added); *Goolsby*, 189 N.W.2d at 917 (concluding a trial court correctly applied defensive issue preclusion despite no mutuality of parties).

Instead, when “invoked offensively to establish an element of a claim,” issue preclusion analysis involves two additional factors. *Emp’rs Mut. Cas. Co.*, 815 N.W.2d at 22; accord *Winger*, 881 N.W.2d

at 451 (“two extra considerations”). The court must also consider: (1) whether “the party sought to be precluded was afforded a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue” in the earlier action; and (2) whether any other circumstances justify granting the party resisting issue preclusion an opportunity to relitigate the issue. *Hunter*, 300 N.W.2d at 126. These additional requirements for offensive issue preclusion derive from the Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 29. *See Hunter*, 300 N.W.2d at 125 (“[W]e adopt as ours the position taken by [the] Restatement (Second) of Judgments . . . with respect to the use of issue preclusion in this [offensive-use] context.”); *see also Soultz Farms*, 797 N.W.2d at 104 (noting the Restatement section adopted in *Hunter*, which was at that time numbered section 88, is now section 29). In short, a litigant may not rely on offensive issue preclusion if any of the six elements is not met.

Clark’s post-conviction relief is not preclusive in this action because several of the elements are not met. First, because Robertson was not a party to the PCR action, the party sought to be precluded—Robertson—lacked a full and fair opportunity to litigate in the PCR proceeding. Second, the issue in the PCR action is not identical to the issue in this legal malpractice case. Third, the grounds on which Clark

seeks preclusion were not essential to the judgment in the PCR case. Finally, several other considerations make offensive issue preclusion inappropriate under the circumstances presented here.

**A. The party sought to be precluded—Robertson—lacked a full and fair opportunity to litigate in the PCR action because he was not a party to it.**

While “the absence of mutuality will [not] *invariably* bar the offensive application of issue preclusion,” *Hunter*, 300 N.W.2d at 126 (emphasis added), here the absence of mutuality is dispositive. When, as here, the party sought to be precluded is not the same as the party against whom the issue was decided in the first action, the party sought to be precluded cannot have a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue as a matter of law because it lacked *any* opportunity to litigate. In other words, complete mutuality is not a strict requirement, but if the party sought to be precluded was not a party to the prior action, its absence in the prior proceeding is appropriately considered as part of the “full and fair” inquiry. *Hall* illustrates that principle by applying the reverse: a PCR ruling can be used defensively in a subsequent malpractice action because the malpractice plaintiff “*was* a party to the former action and therefore had the requisite opportunity to litigate the issue.” *Hall*, 412 N.W.2d at 651 (emphasis added).

Here, however, “the State” in the PCR case is not the same party as the defendant in this legal malpractice case alleging negligence by Robertson. There is no privity between “the State” in the PCR case and the malpractice defendant Robertson, even though the Iowa Tort Claims Act substitutes “the State” as the nominal defendant in this case. The mere fact that “the State” is in the caption of both actions does not make “the State” the same party. Therefore, issue preclusion is inappropriate because Robertson, whose individual actions Clark assails, did not have a full and fair opportunity to litigate his conduct in the PCR action. *See Stevens v. Horton*, 984 P.2d 868, 873 (Or. Ct. App. 1999).

- 1. Despite both being captioned “Clark v. State,” Clark’s PCR and malpractice claims involve different parties-in-interest in different capacities.***

Clark’s claim in this case alleges legal malpractice by Robertson. (Petition ¶¶ 11, 13–15, 17–19; App. 73-74). Clark’s only allegations are that Robertson negligently represented Clark during the criminal proceedings in 2009 and 2010. Therefore, the only reason the State of Iowa is the nominal defendant in this case is because of the operation of the Iowa Tort Claims Act. *See* Iowa Code § 669.5(2) (stating that claims made against State employees under the Iowa Tort Claims act

are “deemed to be an action against the State” and that the State of Iowa “shall be substituted as the defendant in place of the employee”); *see also State v. McKinley*, 860 N.W.2d 874, 886 (Iowa 2015) (Waterman, J., concurring specially) (“[P]ublic defenders are salaried state employees and experienced trial lawyers . . . .”). Clark appropriately named the State as a defendant from the beginning of his lawsuit pursuant to section 669.5(2).

Merely naming the State of Iowa in Robertson’s place does not make the parties the same. Robertson, not the State, is the “party” who Clark alleges committed malpractice. Therefore, Robertson must have had a full and fair opportunity to litigate in the PCR action. *See Hunter*, 300 N.W.2d at 126. Furthermore, the roles played by Robertson and the Johnson County Attorney differ so greatly that even though “the State” is listed in the caption of both this case and the PCR proceeding, “the State” as represented by the Johnson County Attorney in the PCR proceeding is not the same as “the State” in this tort action defending John Robertson as a public defender.

The comments to the Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing Lawyers, section 53, address this exact situation while acknowledging the significant difference between offensive and defensive issue

preclusion.<sup>2</sup> Comment *d* to section 53 explains that an *unsuccessful* PCR applicant who becomes a legal malpractice plaintiff cannot “relitigat[e] an issue decided in a postconviction proceeding after a full and fair opportunity to litigate.” Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing Lawyers § 53, cmt. *d*. That formulation is consistent with the court of appeals decision applying defensive issue preclusion in *Hall*, 412 N.W.2d at 650. Important for this case, however, comment *d* goes on to explain that *offensive* issue preclusion is not an automatic corollary for successful PCR applicants because the lawyer is not bound by a PCR court’s ineffective assistance finding. That is, the unsuccessful PCR applicant faces defensive issue preclusion in a subsequent malpractice case “even though the lawyer sued *was not a party* to that [PCR] proceeding and is hence *not bound by any decision favorable to the defendant*.” Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing Lawyers § 53, cmt. *d* (emphasis added). Instead, “[a]

---

<sup>2</sup> The Court has relied on section 53 of the Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing Lawyers in the past—and even specifically on comment *d*. See *Kraklio*, 909 N.W.2d at 439 (“We follow the Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing Lawyers, section 53 . . . .”); *Barker*, 875 N.W.2d at 165–66 (finding “the approach taken by the Restatement” section 53, comment *d*, “to be persuasive,” and noting previous reliance on the Restatement “when defining the scope of the duty of care attorneys owe their clients”).

judgment in a postconviction proceeding is binding in the malpractice action to the extent provided by the law of judgments.” *Id.*

The law of judgments, as set forth in the Restatement (Second) of Judgments,<sup>3</sup> provides that “[a] party appearing in an action in one capacity, individual or representative, is not thereby bound by or entitled to the benefits of the rules of res judicata in a subsequent action in which he appears in another capacity.” Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 36(2). Indeed, “[i]n some circumstances, a prior determination that is binding on one [government] agency and its officials may not be binding on another agency and its officials.” *Id.* cmt. *f.* Especially relevant here,

If the second action involves an agency or official whose functions and responsibilities are so distinct from those of the agency or official in the first action that applying preclusion would interfere with the proper allocation of authority between them, the earlier judgment should not be given preclusive effect in the second action.

*Id.*

---

<sup>3</sup> Like the Restatement (Third) of Law Governing Lawyers, the Court has frequently relied on, discussed, adopted, or applied the principles set forth in the Restatement (Second) of Judgments. *See, e.g., Stender v. Blessum*, 897 N.W.2d 491, 513 (Iowa 2017); *Winger*, 881 N.W.2d at 451; *Emp’rs Mut. Cas. Co.*, 815 N.W.2d at 27; *Soults Farms*, 797 N.W.2d at 105.



Consider the difference in the agencies involved here. In the PCR case, the Johnson County Attorney, acting pursuant to Iowa Code § 331.756, was fulfilling its role of enforcing the State criminal law by protecting its conviction. If it failed, the Johnson County Attorney would lose the conviction it had obtained, but it could retry Clark. In the malpractice case, the agency is the State Public Defender. The State Public Defender had the exact opposite interest in the underlying criminal action. *See Polk County v. Dodson*, 454 U.S. 312, 322 n.13 (1981) (“[A] public defender is not acting on behalf of the State; he is the State’s adversary.”). The State Public Defender has more than a mere “distinct” function compared to the Johnson County Attorney; it has the exact opposite function. The State Public Defender, through its employee Robertson, defended Clark against “the State’s” accusations, brought by the Johnson County Attorney. The State Public Defender, through its employee Robertson, was not a party to the PCR action, because the PCR action determined only whether Clark’s unsuccessful defense against the State in the criminal case was constitutionally sound.

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