IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 19-1558

DONALD L. CLARK,
Appellee,
vs.
STATE OF IOWA,
Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR JOHNSON COUNTY
HONORABLE LARS ANDERSON, JUDGE

**APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

FRANK J. NIDEY
**NIDEY, ERDAHL,
MEIER & ARAGUAS, P.L.C.**
425 2ND STREET, SUITE 1000
Cedar Rapids, IA 52401
Ph: (319) 369-0000
Fax: (319) 369-6972
Email: fnidey@eiowalaw.com

THOMAS P. FRERICHS
FRERICHS LAW OFFICE, P.C.
P.O. Box 328
Waterloo, IA 50704
Ph: (319) 236-7204
Fax: (319) 236-7206
Email: tfrerichs@frerichslaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE, DONALD L. CLARK

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Ruling Against a State Public Defender is Preclusive on the Issue of Breach in a Legal Negligence Action.

Preservation of Error

Clark agrees that the State preserved error in its Brief sections I(A), (B), and (D) by resisting Clark’s motion for summary judgment and resisting Clark’s motion to reconsider, enlarge or amend. *See* Resistance to MSJ and

Resistance to motion to reconsider, enlarge or amend. However, the State *did not preserve error* on Brief section I(C). The State raises *for the first time on appeal*, Brief Section I(C) which alleges, “the ineffectiveness finding was not essential to the PCR judgment.” The district court did not address this argument in either the order denying summary judgment or the order granting Clark’s motion to reconsider, enlarge or amend because the State did not make the argument in the district court. As a result, Issue I(C) was not preserved for appeal and should be ignored. *See Young v. Iowa City Cmty. Sch. Dist.*, 934 N.W.2d 595, 602 (Iowa 2019) (“Our preservation rule requires that issues must be presented to and passed upon by the district court before they can be raised and decided on appeal.”) quoting, *Metz v. Amoco Oil Co.*, 581 N.W.2d 597, 600 (Iowa 1998).

Standard of Review

The State of Iowa claims that this appeal should be reviewed for correction of errors at law. In doing so they rely on the broad application of “error at law” applied to the review of summary judgment decisions. In general, the “error at law” standard is applied in summary judgment so as to provide a *de novo* type of review in order to determine whether any genuine issues of material facts exist. *Skadburg v. Gately*, 911 N.W.2d 786, 791 (Iowa 2018). Under such a review, “[t]he moving party has the burden of showing

the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.” *Id.* citing *Hlubek v. Pelecky*, 701 N.W.2d 93, 95 (Iowa 2005). The Court then reviews the facts contained in the record in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party and draws every legitimate inference in favor of the non-moving party. *Id.* (internal citations omitted). In this appeal the State does not claim there are any genuine issues of material fact to be decided by this Court. Therefore, the sole issue to be decided is whether Clark was entitled, *as a matter of law*, to partial summary judgment based upon the *legal* conclusions of the District Court.

During a review under the “error at law” standard, little or no deference is given to the trial court by the reviewing court relating to its determination, interpretation, or application of the law. “We are not bound by trial court’s determinations of law, however, nor precluded from examining whether trial court applied erroneous rules of law that materially affected its decision.” *Kurtenbach v. TeKippe*, 260 N.W.2d 53, 55 (Iowa 1977).

Clark contends that the proper standard of review in cases involving the offensive application of issue preclusion is an “*abuse of discretion*” standard. *Casey v. Koos*, 323 N.W.2d 193, 197 (1982) (“The application of the doctrine of offensive issue preclusion, a term used in *Hunter* interchangeably with collateral estoppel, is a matter left largely to the *trial court’s discretion* . . . *On appeal we reverse only for abuse of discretion.*”) (internal citations omitted).

Reversal for abuse of discretion is limited to situations where the Court finds “discretion was exercised on grounds ...clearly untenable or, to an extent clearly unreasonable.” *Simon Seeding & Sod, Inc. v. Dubuque Human Rights Commission*, 895 N.W.2d 446, 456 (Iowa 2017) (internal citations omitted). When granted discretion, the trial court’s right to exercise that discretion is clearly protected. “This court is not to substitute its collective judgment for that of the district court. Instead, under an abuse of discretion standard, this court must affirm the district court’s discretionary ruling absent a firm and definite conviction the ruling is beyond the pale of reasonable justification under the circumstances presented—a decision so flawed and prejudicial to the administration of justice that this court must provide relief.” *In Re Grand Jury of Dallas County John Doe*, --- N.W.2d --- (Decided February 14, 2020) (J.J. McDonald in dissent citing *Harman v. Apfel*, 211 F.3d 1172, 1175 (9th Cir. 2000)).

The standard of review is of extreme importance in this case because of the differing levels of deference given the trial court’s application of the law. Given the wholesale lack of a factual dispute in this matter, the correct standard of review should be for abuse of discretion *not* for an error of law.

General Legal Standards – Legal Negligence/Malpractice

“To establish a prima facie claim for legal negligence, a plaintiff must produce substantial evidence demonstrating (1) an attorney-client relationship existed giving rise to a duty; (2) the attorney violated or breached the duty, either by an overt act or a failure to act; (3) the breach of duty proximately caused injury to the client; and (4) the client did sustain an actual injury loss or damage.” *Trobaugh v. Sondag*, 668 N.W.2d 577, 580 (Iowa 2003); *see also* Iowa Civil Jury Instruction No. 1500.1.

In criminal cases, the Iowa Supreme Court also recognized a “relief from conviction” rule for all criminal defense attorneys. The rule requires that, prior to filing a criminal legal negligence claim, the plaintiff first obtain relief from the underlying conviction. *Trobaugh v. Sondag*, 668 N.W.2d 577 (Iowa 2003).

For legal negligence in criminal cases against *court appointed counsel*, the Iowa legislature provided an additional legislative requirement; the plaintiff in a legal negligence claim against a public defender or a court appointed attorney plaintiff must obtain postconviction relief specifically as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel. Iowa Code § 815.10(6). “Thus, the legislature has established limited immunity for court appointed counsel unless a post-conviction court first determines that the client’s ‘conviction

resulted from ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Barker v. Capotosto*, 875 N.W.2d 157, 168 (Iowa 2016).

General Standards - Offensive Issue Preclusion

Issue preclusion, sometimes referred to as collateral estoppel, is a form of res judicata. *Winnebago Indus., v. Haverly*, 727 N.W.2d 567, 571 (Iowa 2006). “Traditionally, three conditions were required before the doctrine of issue preclusion could be applied in Iowa: (1) the identity of issues raised in the successive pleadings; (2) determination of these issues by a valid final judgment to which such determination is necessary; and (3) identity of the parties or privity⁶, often referred to as ‘mutuality of estoppel.’” *Goolsby v. Derby*, 189 N.W.2d 909, 913 (Iowa 1971).

In *Hunter v. City of Des Moines*, 300 N.W.2d 121 (1981), the Iowa Supreme Court held that offensive issue preclusion may be invoked, even if mutuality of the parties does not exist, as long as four-factors are met: (1) the issue in the present case must be identical; (2) the issue must have been raised and litigated in the prior action; (3) the issue must have been material and relevant to the disposition of the prior action; and (4) the determination made

⁶ A “privity” in this context was defined as “one who, after rendition of the judgment, has acquired an interest in the subject matter affected by the judgment through or under one of the parties as by inheritance, succession, or purchase.” *Goolsby v. Derby*, 189 N.W.2d 909, 914 (Iowa 1971).

of the issue in the prior action must have been necessary and essential to the resulting judgment. *Hunter*, 300 N.W.2d at 123; see also *United Fire & Cas. Co. v. Shelly Funeral Home*, 642 N.W.2d 648, 655 (Iowa 2002).

If a litigant asserts offensive issue preclusion, and mutuality of the parties is not present, two additional factors must also be considered: “(1) whether the opposing party in the earlier action was afforded a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issues; and (2) whether any other circumstances are present that would justify granting the party resisting issue preclusion an occasion to relitigate the issues.” *Hunter* at 126.

A. Robertson’s ineffective assistance of counsel was fully and fairly litigated in the PCR action by the State of Iowa.

The “other circumstances” which may determine if the opposing party was truly afforded a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issues are outlined in the Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 29⁷ and are set forth as follows:

- (1) Treating the issue as conclusively determined would be incompatible with an applicable scheme of administering the remedies in the action involved;
- (2) The forum in the second action affords the party against whom preclusion is asserted procedural opportunities in the presentation and determination of the issue that were not available in the first action and that might likely result in the issue being differently determined;

⁷ Restatement (Second) of Judgments §29 was previously found in Restatement (Second) of Judgments §88.

- (3) The person seeking to invoke favorable preclusion, or to avoid unfavorable preclusion, could have affected joinder in the first action and himself and his present adversary;
- (4) The determination relied on as preclusive was itself inconsistent with another determination of the same issue;
- (5) The prior determination may have been affected by the relationships among the parties to the first action that are not present in the subsequent action, or was based on a compromise verdict or finding;
- (6) Treating the issue as conclusively determined may complicate determination of issues in the subsequent action or prejudice the interests of another party thereto;
- (7) Other circumstances make it appropriate that the party be permitted to relitigate the issue.

Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 29.

Under the Restatement approach, the following questions must be answered before issue preclusion is permitted: (1) whether the party [being precluded] was afforded a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue[s] and whether any other circumstances are present which would justify granting the [party being precluded] occasion to relitigate those issues. *Id.* at 126 (*quoting* Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 88 (Tent. Draft No. 2, 1975). The relevant inquiry is whether the State of Iowa in this legal negligence case was afforded, directly or through privity, a full and fair opportunity to litigate whether or not Robertson breached his duties as a criminal defense attorney during the post-conviction proceedings. The obvious answer to this inquiry is a wholehearted yes.

In its brief, the State never directly addresses this issue. Instead it attempts to misdirect the Court by trying to confuse the identities of the parties in both proceedings. The simple fact remains that the Johnson County Attorney, clearly represented the State and the State's interest while trying to preserve the State's conviction at post-conviction. The Iowa Attorney General's interest in protecting the State from liability, are one in the same with the State's prior interest in trying to preserve Clark's wrongful conviction. The best proof that the State of Iowa was protecting the very same interests in both cases lies in the fact that the State of Iowa made nearly *the same arguments in both cases*.

Despite the unsupported claim that the State of Iowa (post-conviction) was not protecting the interests of the State of Iowa (legal negligence), a review of the arguments made in both cases shows the fallacy this claim. The arguments made in both cases, by the very same party, are mostly indistinguishable. Compare this argument made by the State of Iowa in the post-conviction:

“The only evidence we have at this point of Robertson's alleged failure to investigate is the self-serving testimony of Applicant. We simply do not know what Robertson looked into prior to trial. Given the evidence that was presented, however, it does not appear as though there would have been much for Robertson to investigate anyway. The State's photographs accurately represented the shape of the office which, by any description, made it very difficult to see the whole thing from the hallway. It is entirely possible Robertson

thought there was little value to arguing over how busy the corridor next to the closed office door really was. It is entirely possible he saw no value in pointing out that when Applicant was in the room the furniture would have been situated in such a way that there was lots of open floor space --space on which the assaults could have occurred.” (Respondent’s Post-Trial Brief by then-Assistant Johnson County Attorney, Andrew B. Chappell on behalf of the State of Iowa, filed March 4, 2016, App. pp. 14-38).

As opposed to this argument made by the State in the legal negligence case:

“Assuming John Robertson did not visit the scene of the crime, the mere decision not to visit the scene of the crime was not negligent. The photographs taken by D.J. Steva accurately portrayed the crime scene on the date such photographs were taken. A criminal defense attorney does not necessarily have a duty to visit a crime scene. The discovery available to Robertson was sufficient to inform him about relevant aspects of the scene.” (Plaintiff’s Supplemental Appendix in Support of Summary Judgment, App. pp. 91-101).

Compare this argument made by the State in the post-conviction case:

“Further, **the record is devoid of evidence of any real prejudice** from this issue. Applicant's argument appears to be that the photographs presented, and unrebutted, created a sort of false narrative about the office that was alleged to be the scene of Applicant's abuse. This is simply not the case. All of the photographs provided to this Court confirm that those admitted by the State in the criminal trial accurately represented the shape of the room, the size of the window in the door, and one's inability to see into the room with the lights off and to see the entire room even with the lights on. These are the reasons the photographs, and accompanying testimony, were offered and there was nothing misleading about that evidence. Thus, there was no false narrative to have been corrected and no prejudice caused by either the admission of the State's photographs or Robertson's failure to admit others. In the end, the evidence shows Robertson was not ineffective in relation to the photographic evidence presented at trial.” (Respondent’s Post-Trial Brief by then-Assistant Johnson County Attorney, Andrew B. Chappell on behalf of the State of Iowa, filed March 4, 2016, App. pp. 14-38). (Emphasis Added).

With the Argument made by the State of Iowa in this legal negligence case as follows:

“Mr. Robertson’s performance did not cause Plaintiff to be convicted. Had Mr. Robertson represented Plaintiff in the manner that Plaintiff complains, *it is highly unlikely the result of the trial would have been different.*” (Plaintiff’s Supplemental Appendix in Support of Summary Judgment, App. pp. 97-101). (Emphasis Added).

Compare this argument made by the State of Iowa in the post-conviction case with:

“As for the communication issues Applicant describes, Robertson sent Applicant notice of the depositions but it simply did not arrive in time. Applicant did not testify that he had been making efforts to find out when the depositions would be held, but he had been unable to get in touch with Robertson. Given how close the depositions were held in relation to trial it does not seem likely that they could have been rescheduled. Since Applicant was not in custody it would have been reasonable for Robertson to assume, he had chosen not to come.” (Respondent’s Post-Trial Brief by then-Assistant Johnson County Attorney, Andrew B. Chappell on behalf of the State of Iowa, filed March 4, 2016, App. pp. 14-38).

With the Argument made during this legal negligence case:

“Assuming Plaintiff did not explicitly waive his attendance at depositions in the criminal case, the decision to conduct depositions without the presence of Plaintiff was not negligent. There are strategic, non-negligent reasons to conduct depositions in the absence of a criminal defendant.” (Plaintiff’s Supplemental Appendix in Support of Summary Judgment, App. pp. 97-101).

As the District Court recognized, if these very same arguments failed to convince the district court in the post-conviction relief action that Robertson breached his duty, what justifies now allowing the State of Iowa to

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